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THE YOSHIOKA FAMILY

l. Introduction

The Yoshioka family 1s comprised of Sumishige Yoshioka, 36,
his wife, Kimiko, 26, and three children, Yurike, 7; Tomiq, 5 and
Chiyeko, one month. Mr. Yoshioka was arrested by the F.RB.I. soon
after the out break of the war and the remainder of the family had
been living with relatives in Tule Lake. Mrs. Yoshioka was born
and raised in the United States but her husband is 1ssei. She ecan
speak Japanese and Engl ish but the children always address their
mother in English. Prior to the outbreak of the war Mr. Yoshioka
was a farmer in Gridley, California and sole supporter of the

family.

2, Life of Kimiko Yoshioka

Kimiko Tsuda was born on December 11, 1916 in San Juan Bau-

tista, California. Soon after her birth the family moved to Marys-
ville where she attended Marysville grammar school from September,
1923 to June, 1931 after which she went to Placer Union high school
in Auburn where she majored in comme rce. She graduated higzh school
in June, 1934. She aléo attended Japanese language school in Marys=-
ville from September, 1923 to June, 1928,

Whlle attending school Kimiko helped the family in the orchard
in Marysville. 1In 1931 when she went to hizh school she began to
work after school hours and in the summer she worked for S. Berkoff
in Auburn packing fruit for 3 to 5 cents a box. Three momths after

her graduation she married Yoshioka and moved to Gridley. In the
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years foldowing she had two children and was expecting a thlrd when
Pearl Harbor was attacked and her husband arrested. Relatlves
helped her and on July 10, 1942 the pregnant woman and her two
children evacuated to Tule Lake project with in-laws.

Mrs. Yoshioka is 5 ft. 2 inches tall and weighs 130 pounds.

She has no physical defects. She can read, write and speak both

Japanese and English. She has no religious affiliations.t

3, Family in Tule Lake

Soon after their arrival in Tule Lake the Yoshiokas had con-
giderable difficulties but managed to get by with the assistance of
the block manager and relatives. Mrs. Yoshioka's parents who lived
in the same block provided finanecial assistance and helped in the
housework whenever pos sible. Since Mrs. Yoshioka was pregnant she
could not work. Her own brother, also in the Project, was unable to
gzive financial support as he had a family of six.

In October, 1942 the block manager, without consulting Mrs.
Yoshioka, applied for public assistance grant. When the social
worker called on her she was at first resentful that anyone should
offer relief. After consulting her mother-in-law she finally de-
cided to accept the fund since she needed it badly.2

Durirg the winter months Mrs. Yoshioka managed on $7.25 a

1. WRA-26,

: 2, Mrs. Yoshioka agreed to accept the grant provided 1t was
was called something other than relief. She stated that she did
not want to disgrace the family of her husband. It was only after
the block manager assured her that 1t was the responsibility of the
government to make up for any inconvenience caused by evacuation
that she agreed to accept the monsey.
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month she received in grants and about $10 her mother-in-law was

able to provide. In November when her daughter had to get a pair

of glasses payment had to be made by grants. Early in December she

gave birth to a baby at the base hospital and once agaln relatives

came to the rescue and provided all the mecessary equipment and help.
Dur ing the middle of January the WRA announced that it was

possible for families to jJoin internees at various internment camps.

She felt that inasmuch as her husband was an active member of the

Heimushakal and would in all probabilities not be released, there-
fore wrote to Mr. Ennis of the Department of Justice but had no
reply. ©She refused to apply for repatriation but stated she wanted
to fake her children to the intermment camp because the children

needed their father's care.’

See Appendix 171,
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Appendix II

APFLICATION TO JOIN INTERNEE

INTERNEE: Yoshilioka, Sumlshige
WIFE: x , Kimiko
CHILDREN: " , Yariko

, Tomio

, Chiyeko

APPLICATION
Mrs. ¥Yoshioka made application for herself and her threes small
children to join her husband in internment camp.

ATTITUDE OF WOMAN
Mrs. Yoshloka wishes to join her husband for the following reasons:

1) SBhe wishes to be with him.

2) ©She is fairly young and feels the responsibility of
raising the children. They will need the care of the
father.

3) She is completely dependent on him, financially as well
as psychologically, and feels that as long as she remains
here she and the children will be a burden upon her other
relatives.

Mrs. Moshioka has not applied for repatriation. She had hoped that
her husband could be paroled and join her here; however, she sent
in a petition for rehearing with affidavits last August, and to
date has received no assurance that such a solution is possible.
She would much prefer remaining in this camp If her husband could
be returned.

PROPE RTY
Family has no property under the care of WRA.

FINANCES .
Mrs. Yoshioka has no funds and would not be able to pay the family's
transportation to the internment camp.

RECCMMENDA TION
If there 1is no possibility of a parole for Mr. Yoshioka, the trans-
fer is recommended.

By

Dorothy Montgomery
Supervisor, Soclal Welfare
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THE NAITO FAMILY

CONFIDENTIAL

This document contains no disguises other than names.
All dates, places, and events are accurate to the best know-
ledge of the investigator. No part of this document may be
used for any purpose whatsoever without further dilsguises to
conceal the identity of the persons involved and without the
consent of the director of the Evacuation and Resettlement

Sources of Information:
1. Case record of the Naito family in the files
of the Community Welfare Department in the
Tule Lake Project.

Interviews with Mrs, Naito on several occasions.

WRA- 26, Individual Record Form, for Mrs. Naito.
Unfortunately, her husband's form was not checked.

Evacuation and Resettlement Study
The Evacuee Family in Tule Lake
Chicago, Illinois

Shibutani, 7/15/43
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THE NAITO FAMILY

i, Intreodbctlon

The Naito family consists of Mr. Shigeru Naito (50), his wife
Sachiko (30) and three children, Mary (9), Jimmy (7), and Noriko
(11)s Mr. Naito is an Issei, but his wife and children were all
born in the United States. Irs, Naito was educated in Japan, how-
ever, and has an excellent command of the Japanese language. The
children are all bilingual, but they address their parents in
Japanese.

The family had a small farm in Oroville, Mrs., Naito was un-
able to help her husband in the fields because of kidney trouble
that had been bothering her for years.l The children went to school,
but in spite of their extreme youth, they occasionally helped their
father doing light jobs.

Prior to evacuation, the family might be said to have been in
the middle of the status structure of the Japanese community in
Oroville., They were not too highly respected, nor were they des-

pised.? They were simply accepted.

2 The Life of Mras. Nalto

Sachiko Imada was born in Vacaville, California, on July 11,

él. rIlf[’his fact confirmed by the Base Hospital,
A estimony of block manager, October 11, 1942,




1912, Her father, one of the early immigrants to the United States,
operated a fruilt farm there. Sachiko spent much of her early child-
hood with her famlly since there were very few Japanese children
with whom she could associate. 5She recalls very little of her early
childhood in America, for at the age of 5 she was sent to Japan to
live with her graddmother and to get an education.

From April, 1917, to March, 1925, she attended the Toyotomi
grammar school in Japan., There she made all of her close friends,
and after school hours she learned flower-arrangement techniques
and other such things preparatory to marriage from her relatives.
After her graduation, she helped around her home and her relatives
arranged a marriage between her and a man who had returned to Japan
in the search of a wife.® Soon after her marriage, in February,
1929, she returned to the United States with him and settled in
Vacaville, California. Not much later, the family moved to Oroville,
where her husband had a farm. There she reared her three children,

Mrs. Naito is 5 feet tall and weighs 88 pounds. She has had
several kldney operations, the most serious one soon after the

birth of her last child. She began having trouble after the birth

of her second child and has been advised against having more.

Since all of her education was in Japan, she can read, write, and
speak Japanese, but had very little understanding of English.
She has never worked outside of her home. The family has no

particular religious preference.4

S Women with Mrs. Nalto's status as an American citizen were
mich in demand, largely because of the fact that there were so few
Nisei women in the proper age-group for the young Issel. Her Japa-
nese educatlion made her particularly desirable to the Issei.

4. Taken from WRA-26 form and from odd notes from the inter-
view of October 19, 1942,




9¢ The History of the Family

Year after year, Mr. Naito worked in Oroville and yet the family

never seemed to be able to save much money. The children all went
to school, but sometimes the Naitos experienced difficulties in
supplying them with adequate clothing. In good years, they managed
quite comfortably, but in the lean years, Mr. Naito barely earned
subsistence for the family. He drank occasionally and often gam-
bleds On July 10, 1942, the family was evacuated from their home
to the Tule Lake Project. At that time, they had only a few dollars
left, for they had to purchase several items to prepare for the
evacuation., Their friends who had gone to camp before them warned
them of the conditions in the center and they came as well prepared
as they could.

It was not long after they were in Tule Lake when they found
themselves almost destitute. Mr. Naito could not even gamble with
his friends because of lack of funds. On September 13, he volun-
teered for beet field work and left his family in the projeet with
only a few dollars left. Mrs. Naito tried to find a job but was
advised against working by her physician, who feared that she might
further injure her already-inflamed kidney. On October 19, she had
to apply for relief at the Social Welfare Department. She had appealed
to her Councilman for help and had been sent to the office.

During the first part of November she received some publie
assistance money for herself and her children. Mach of this she

used to get heavy clothing for her children, since she had heard




of stories of the extreme cold of Tule Lake winters. It was not
long before all her allowance was spent.
On November 11, her husband returned to the center with prac-

tically no money. He told his wife that he had earned very little

and that he had to spend it all for subsistence.® Since the family

needed money badly, Mrs, Naito did not disclose to the Social
Welfare Department that her husband had returned to the project
and applied for another Public Assistance Grant. One of the workers
accldentally learned of this, but when she was called to the office
she pleaded that she had to have momey to purchase more clothes for
her children.® A small grant was made for November.,7

Early in December, Mr, Naito got a job as dishwasher in his

mess hall and the family was taken off the relief rolls.

This all too brief discussion is interesting in many respects.
Both the Naitos were educated in Japan and their attitudes toward

family responsibilities reflect to some extent the attitudes of

5 A check by the Social Welfare Department disclosed that
this was not entirely true. Naito had been paid a decent wage, but
had apparently gambled most of it away. Mrs. Naito seemed to be
aware of this but stated that she did not dare bring up the matter
to her husband,

6. This indicates that Mrs. Naito was aware of the regulations
governtng public assistance grants--particularly the clause stating
that employable indlviduals and their families were not eligible.

7. Case #57, Social Welfare Department, November 13, .1942,




many Japanese bachelors of certain laboring classes and the attitudes

of the ideal Japanese wife. While it 1s true, that family solidarity
is considered ideal in Japanese society, we must also take into con-
sideration the perogatives that men had. The husband and father
was the master of the family and he had the right to do as he saw
fit. Naito was a younger Isseil, and because of the pecullar age
distribution of the Japanese in America, many of his age-group
fellows were not married. These bachelors spent much of their time
and money gambling, and Naito tried to keep up with his friends. He
was apparently more concerned of his status in his friendship groups
that he was of his status in the community as a whole.

VMrs, Naito, of course, was the ideal Japanese wife. Bhe was
well aware of the shortcomings of her husband and yet never mentioned
the matter to him. She did the best she could under the circumstances.
At the same time, she was much concerned over the welfare of her .chil-
dren and went so far as to lie in order to get for them the clothing
that she felt was necessary for their health. ©She never asked for

anything for herself; it was always for her children.
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THE YOSHIMOTO FAMILY

l. Introduction

The Yoshimoto family consists of Mrs. Mitsuye Yoshimoto, 30,
her three children, Aiko, 8; Kenichi, 5 and Miyeko, 1 and a ward,

Yoshio Senba, 19. Mr. Minoru Yoshimoto has been interned and con-

fined in Lordsburg, New Mexico. Mrs. Yosh&ﬁoto was born in Watson-

ville, California but educated in Japan. Mr. Yoshimoto was born and
reared 1in Japan. The children speak to their mother in both Japan-
ese’and English for she canme$ speak English rather well,

Prior to evacuation Mr. Yoshimoto was a farmer in Pescadero,
California and his wife often helped him in the fields. The Yoshi-

moto family is Budchist.l

2. Life of Mitsuye Yoshigoto |

Mitsuye Itami was born on January 10, 1912 in Watsonville
where her father operated a farm. In 1917 she was sent to Japan to
her grandmother's home and from April, 1918 to March, 1926 she
attended school in Japan. Following her graduation she attended
sewlng school until 1929 when she returned to the United States to
Join her parents again. The following year she attended sewing
school in Salinas and late in 1930 she married Mr. Yoshimotb.

In September, 1933 the Yoshimotos went to Pescadero and began
farming there. When she was not burdened with childbirth she

worked in the field as an unpaid worker.
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Mrs. Yoshimoto 1s 5 ft. inches tall and weighs 115 pounds.
She has no physical defects. ©She speaks English rather well but
does not read nor write English. ©She writes, reads and speaks

Japanese. ©She 1s skillful in sewing. Her religion is Buddhist.

3. History of Family

Prior to evacuation in April, 1942 Mr. Yoshimoto was arrested
by the F.B.I. and interned in New Mexico, then Mrs. Yoshimoto and
her children went to live with her brother, Cscar and his parents
in Salinas. They evacuated together to Salinas Assembly Center on
April 29, 1942. From there they were sent to Tule Lake on July 4,
1942,

Inasmuch as she had thildren, includimg a small baby she was
unable to work and depended on her brother and his family for fi-
nanclial support. He helped to get essentials not provided by the

government but by September the family savings ran low. Mrs. Yo-

shimoto's war, Yoshio Senba, who lived with the family was employed

on the project but did not turn over any money to Mrs. Yoshimoto.
Finally on October 19 Mrs. Yoshimoto applied for relief at the
Social Welfare Department. Since the war, Senba, was =me% reglistered
as a member of the family even though he was not related and since
he was employed at the project garage, the family was technically
not eligible for public assistance grants. The block manager
arguec vociferously that Yeshio was not reliable and could not be
counted on to support the family.

On October 23 Yoshio went to the Social Welfare office and
objJected that he was too young to support an entire famlly and was
not willingto take the responsibility. He stated that he would

leave the project soon. The family was therefore put on the relief
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roll and received $7.50 for October. On Noveber 5 Yoshio left

for work in the beet fields in Idaho and the family received grants

in November and December.

On March 9, 1943 clothes sent from the American Friends
Service Committee was given to the mother and three children. ©She
stated that she had $550 in savings in a Bank of America in Salinhas

and was therefore dropped from the relief roll.
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THE MOMO FAMILY

l. Introduction

The Momo family consists of Mr., Shimajiro lMomo (67) and his
wife Sura Momo (65). They have but one child--Pfe. Ben lMomo,
stationed at Camp Wolters, Texas. They have not seen their
son since he was draft a little before the outbreak of the war.

Mr, Momo is quite active for an old man, and is still capable
of doing hard labor. Ilrs. Momo, on the other hand, has been quite
ill for some time and y T e Mr. Homo was formerly a
farmer. Néither have had much formal education, and nelther can

understand English at all, Their faith is Buddhism.

2¢ The Individuals in the Famlly

NMomo

iro Momo was born on October 15, 1875, in Hiokl mura,

Aichi ken, Japan, where his father was a farmer. He attended the

Yawata mura grammar school from April, 1882 to March 1887, After
his formal education was completed, he helped on his father's
farm and learned from him how to farn He remalned with his
father until April, 1903, when he d to migrate to the

United States. Once in the United States, he worked in contract




labor camps and saved his money. Finally, in 1916, when he had
saved enough money, he sent back to Japan for his bride. He con-
tinued to shift from job to job until 1926.
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Mrs. Momo is five feet tall 1 wei, ) 1d She has been

having heart trouble for several

S¢ The History of

The Momos have always been very devoted to their only son.
They both worked hard so that Ben could go through school and not
have to work as they themselves had to do. They bought him an

automobile and saw to it that he had everything that othe

children had. Just as Ben finigshed school, he was drafted

the Army of the United States.

lir, Momo had no particular sympathy for the United States,
and he definitely had felt that Japan would win any conflict that
might occur. However, he took the drafting of his son philosophically.
"After all, I may be Japanese, but my son 1s an American. He nmust
be loyal to his country even if it means that he will split from

na

his family.
In order that Ben would not be troubled, Momo took

ingurance policy on which he was paying $190.00 a year.
put some savings iIn the Sumitomo bank in the event that
returned to Japan.4
The war and the evacuation exploded many of the dreams that
el 1. 2 -2 i ) L] s . 3
the Momos had been entertaining, Ben was suddenly transferred to

Texas, and on dJune 6, Mr, and Mrs, Momo were sent to the Tule Lake

3. oStatement by Mr, Momo on November
4, It seems that Mr. Momo entertaine of showing off

~

hiss well-educated son to his friends and TlIeS in Japan.




Prodect . Since Mr. Momo was one of the first people in the center

he pitched in with the others in an effort to make the place as
comfortable as possible. He volunteered to clean the labrines an
was given the job as block janitor. He did his work assiduously
in spite of his age and kept the latrines as clean as they might
be. The people in block 4 were quite proud of the cleanliness of
thelr block.

Among lMr. Momo's friends in block 4 were the Imamuras and
Sakuradas--both from the Clarksburg area. He wvisited them often
and was often seen flirting with Mrs. Imamura, partlcularly when
his own wife was away.

The 1ife in camp was a bit too difficult for Mrs., “omo and
after a month she collapsed. She was taken to the hospital and
not released for slmost five months. Momo and a bachelor friend
lived together and managed rather well.

During the farm strike, Momo did not join the agitators.

However, some of his best friends were among those agitating

acainst the administration.® His ideas gradually began do change.

o s

=

Whereas he had once been very cooperative and had expressed openly
the desire to make Tule Lake the "best relocation center in the
country", he now began to suspect the keto. By October 5, when
the regulations for the payment of public assistance grants were
announced, Momo was convinced of the ingustice of the evacuation.

On October 3, he went to the Social Welfare office and demanded
that he be given a Public Assistance Grant inasmuch as both he and
his wife were over 65 years of age. He stated that the $100.00 thmt

he had stored away in the Sumitomo Bank was of no use to him now

since it was all foozen., He disclosed, however, that he still owned

5. See documents TL-46, TL-47, and TL-30.




two sutomobiles (one of which his son was using in Texas) and a
catapillar and a few other minor farm tools., When he was told

that he owned too much to be eligible, he argued that he had to

pay for a heavy insurance policy which he did not wish to lose
because he had enly a few more years to go. His strongest argu-

ment, however, was that he had no come to Tule Lake voluntarily

- a

and that therefore it was the responsibility of the United States

=5

overnment to give him. He confidentially stated to the worker
<O

&
=

that the Japanese were ?ools if they did not try to get as much

from the government as pos ssible.6 This was a distinet change

n his definition of the situation.
Because of regulations, however, Mr. Momo was not given
grant that he wanted. He became very angéred and called upon

social worker early in the morning to demand an explanation.
implied that the Nisei workers in the office were conspiring

the government to deprive the lssel of what was rightfully theirs.
He stated that just because he could not read English, the

b |

always took advantage of him,7

r. Momo took a rather active part in the agitationthat
followed in the mess hall issue. He made known his stand and spoke
vociferously agains h in He was thus trustéd by
gll the anti-adminisgtration f{ 1 lock 4--Kibel and Tssei.
Mr, Momo maintained his s s of th 1ief trouble-makers in
block 4 until the time

saying anything.

6. OCase record in the Social Welfare Department, case 166.
See also the field notes for October 3, 1948.

7. Momo's attlitude was ambivalent, however. He admitted tha
his former boss was t-king care of his mﬂopeﬂty and that his boss
couT . be trusted with anything. It was not an antli-keto attitude.

2




When the agitation began over the registration, Mr. “omo
& S o : )

was unusually gquiet. Those who had expected hot words from him

were amazed as his silence. He stayed away from
and did not say much when others were discussing
and his wife registered.® This was an extremely

~

for residents in block 4 to do.

4, Comments

Here we see the case of what we might call a
grant pattern. The lmmigrants come to the United
diose notions sbout making millions and then returning to
homeland with higher status. However, while they are
working, thelr children become Americanized and decide again
returning to the old country. Because of their love for their
children, the immigbant decides to make his future withithis
children in

on, when rumors were circulated
those who answered "no" or did not register
disloyal, Momo had to choose between seeing his
his emperor (according
He chose

inflicted
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DOCUMENT TL-58

LHE HORIEKAWA FANILY

CONFIDENTIAL

gontains no disguise other than names. &1l
events are accurate to the best knowledge
of the observer. Lo part of this document may be used for any
purpose whatscever without the addition of further disgulse to
conceal more fully the identity of the persons involved and
without the consent of the director of the Evacuation and Re-

settlement Study.

This document
places, dates, and

Sources of Information

l. Case record from the files of fthe & ial Le-

partment, Tule Lake Project.

Interview with Lkrs. Horikawa.

RA=26

Evacuatlion and Resettlement Study
The Evacuee Family in Tule Lake
Chicago, Illinois

Shibutani, 8/21/43
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The Horikaws f

who 1s paralyzed,

who is in

The o0ld couple were born and reared in Japan,

1y
speak to their

sons worked to

amily consist of
his wife

Tule lLake, and the other son who is

no understanding of
parents

support

1l. Introduction

Mr. Kurataro Horikawa (68),

Ura (58), end two sons - Isao (84)

in the U.8. Army.

and have virtual-

English. Both sons are Americans but

in Japanese. Prior to evacuation, the

the family, and the older had retired.

of Urae Horikawa

Ura Amano was

from April 1881,
a merchant.

States

United

Buring the

Castle Packing

a0 a season.

farm and helped as

Mrs. Horikawa

1

hundred

write, and speak

Her is ¢

hobby

1.

born on

Yamaguchi-ken, Japan.

summer ,

Japanese but has no understanding

ardenin

November 9, 1884, in Iwakami-mura,

attended the Iwakami Grammar School

She

to March 1895, and

In August 1915, she

with her husband,

b i
Worked 1n the

much

Shed and sarned as

From lived ‘on her sons'

8n unpaid worker.

£

is four feet nine inches

and thirty pounds, and has arthritis.

of

y-and her religlion is Buddhist.
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3+ The History of the Family

Prior to evacuation, the elder Horikawa did
because he was very badly paralyze On

he was confined in a hospital, and the two
farm to support the family. One of the boys were
and Mrs. Horikawa who had worked for the past twenty
came rheumatic and was no longer able to work. The
evacuated to the A 8 Assembly
was relocated to the Tule Lake Project on
arrival to' Tule Lake, they had an extremely
work as an apprentice carpenter
reral months. Mr. Ho-

rikawa was confined in the base hospital following their trans-

no released until Septemver. rs. Horikawe

unalbe to work, partly becauss of her rheumatism

%

because she had to be near her hushband to help
to Oetober the only income that the family had s
Isapo had earned. The $46.50 in clothing allowance and salaries

were due but had not yet been paid. ©Since bed pan had not yet
stributed in the project, it was necessary
the latyine; and he
heavy clothing. ‘hey did not have enough
a coat or a robe, and ther-fors applied for public ascsistance
grant at the Social Welfare Department.  In October a grant

of 57.50 was given to the family, and by November salaries

were paild. ' Since her son was working
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family was dropped from the relief roll.
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THE ONIZUEA FAMILY

CONFIDENTIAL

contains
d events ar
No part of
without the

names . All

knowledee
used for any
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v the identity of the persons involved and

the direecic of hh

Sources of Information

1. Case record from L;,
partment , Tule lake

i - -~ D
Evacuation and Re-

Social Welfare De-

Interview with Mrs. Onizuka and her daughter.

T T
S =D

BEvacuation and Resgettlement Study
The Bvacuee Fa lilT in Tule Lake

Chicago, Illinoils
Shibutani, 8/21/43
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DOCUMENT TL-61

THE KOMURE FAMILY

CONFIDENT IAL

This document containg no disguises other than
names. All dates, places and events are accurate to
the best knowledge of the investigator. No part of
this document may be used for any purpose whatsoever
without further disguises to conceazl the identity of
the persons involved and without the consent of the
director of the Evacuatlon and Resettlement Study.

Sources of Information:
1. Case record of the Komure famlly in the
files of the Community Welfare Department
in Tule Lake Project.

Interview with Mr. Komure.

WRA-26, Individual Record forms for Mr.
and Mrs. Komure.

Evacuation and Resettlement Study
Chicago, Illinois
Shibutani, August 27, 1943
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Komure Family

la.  IntPoduetion

The Komure famlly consists of Masao Charles Komure, 37; his
wife, Fumlko, 29; and four children, Benny, 1l; Daisy, 10; Jimmy,
8; and George, 5. The Komure family formerly lived in Salinas where
Komure was the sole supporter of the family. Komure is a nisei and
his wife a kibei but the two with the exception of language diffi-
culties, got along well. The children all speak English. Their

religion 1s Buddhist.

2. Individuals in Family

2v- Masao Charles Komure

Masao Charles Komure was born on November 11, 1905 in Gilroy,
California where his father was a farmer. He attended Watsonville
grammar school in Watsonville from September, 1912 to June, 1920 and
also attended Salinas Japanese lancuage school in the eveningse until
1918. He helped his father on the farm and remained in Gilroy until
1932. 1In January, 1930 he married Fumiko.

From March, 1932 to March, 1934 he operated a berry farm in
Santa Cruz. He hired two or three men. From March, 1934 to May
1937 he operated a berry farm in Gilroy with the assistance of two
or three hands. In neither venture d4id he prosper., In March, 1937
he went to work for United Farmers Inc. in Salinas where he was

foreman and twuck driver on a vegetable farm of 3000 acres, earning

$5.50 a day. 1In March, 1942 he was discharged from the job and was

unemployed until the time of evacuation.
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Komure is $§ ft. 3 in. tall and weighs 125 pounds. He 1is in

excellent health until an appendix operation in Tule Lake. He can

read, write and speak English and speak Japanese. His hobbkies are

baseball, fishing, football and basketball. His religion is

Buddhist .l

2., Fumiko Komure

Fumiko Mary Tanaka was born on November 4, 1914 in Salinas,
California where herfgther was a farmer. In 1920 she was sent to
Japan to live with relatives and attended grammar school there from
April, 1920 to HMarch, 1928, She returned to American in 1928 and
attended Salinas grammar school from September, 1928 to June, 1930.
Since she was married she dropped out of school and went to Gilroy
to live with her husband. From the time of her marriage to evacua-
tion she was a housewife, caring for chilldren and helping in the
fields whenever an extra hand was needed.

Fumiko 1is 5 ft. tall and weighs 107 pounds. She has no phy=-
slcal defects. She can read, write and speak Japanese and speak
English. Her hobbies are sewing, knitting, cooking and reading.

Her religion is Buddhist.2

3. Family in Tule Lake

The Komure family evacuated to Arboga Assembly Center on May
28, 1942, There they met Masao's brother and his family. The group
evacuated together to Tule Lake on June 27.

As soon as they arrived in Tule Lake Masao went to work as a
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dish washer. Early in the fall he was $12 for his work but had
financial difficulties., He had an appendix operation during the
summer and was unable to do heavy work. Since he could not support
his family on #12 and since the salary for other work was not forth-
coming, his wife began to work as a waltress. On October 3, he
applied for public assistance at the Social Welfare Department.

In his applicatlion for relief he stated that he had no savings
and that he dreaded the coming winter cold since he had no winter
clothing for the children. He felt that even if the WRA pald him
all his clothing allowance and,all back salary he could not ade-
quately clothe his famlly. The WRA owed the famlly $67. Mrs. Halle
would not approve the grant however on the grounds that both the
man and wife were able to work and thought Komure's brother, who was
a block manager and family also living in the same block, that they

therefore could help him. The family was dropped from the roll and

had to manage best they could by borrowing from relatives.”

3. In case after case we have been how anxieties over winter
cold caused fear among the residents who were unable to purchase
heavy clothes. Many Californians never have been in cold weather
before and consequently when told of below zero weather they feared
the werst. Actually the winter was not very cold and government
issued clothing carried most familles through without any 111
effect.
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THE NAKANISHI PAMILY

CURFIDANTIAL

This document contalns no disguises other than names,
All adates, places, and events are accurate to the best know-
ledge of the investigator. No part of this document may De
used for any purpose whatsoever without further disguises to
conceal the identity of the persons involved and witaout the
consent of the airector of the kvacuation and Hesettlement
Study.

Sources of Iniormation:

1. Case record of the Nakanishi family from the iiles
of the Social Welfare Department, Tule Lake Froject.

Interview with Mr. Ngkanishi.

WRA-26, Individual Record Form.

Evacuation ana Hesettilement Study
The Evacuee Family in Tule Legkse
Chicago, lllincis

Shibutani, 7/20/43
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THE NAKANISHI FAMLLY

Lo Introduction

The Nekanishi family consist of Mr. Yataroc Nakanishi
(34), his wife, liitsuye (20), and their three chilaren,
Noriko (4), Masemi (2), and Isamu (l). Nakanishi is an
alien, but his wife and children were born in the United

He can understand Japanese and Spanisli, but he

has very little understanding ol Eknglish. Nakanishl was

educated in Japan, but his wife was educatea in the United
States. She has a fairly good commana ol voth English
and Japanese.

Nakanishi has done odd jobs in California for the
past fifteen years, working sometimes in the farno
sometimes as a [isherman. During the past [ive

the tamily resettled near Loomis, Californla.

2. The Life ol Yataro Nakanishl

Yataro Nakanishi was born on August 31, 1908 in Ni-
shiwakimura, Wakayama-ken, Japan, where his father was
a ligyuor dealer. He attended the Nishiwakimura Grammer
School from April 1916 to March 1922. 1In the meantime
his father left behind his family and emigrated to the
United States and started a restaurant in Calilornia.

Yataro continued his education and attended the Nishiwa-
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kimura High School from April 1922 to March 1924, Soon af-
ter his graduatlon when he had expected to emigrate to the
United States to join his father, he learned that the Ori-
ental Exclusion Law had been passed by the United States
Congress, maeking it impossible for him to come to this coun-
try. In May 1925 he went to lMexico and from there, with
the assistance of friends, he was smuggled into the Unitea
tates. From June 1927 to October 19%1 he workea as an
ingpector and foreman for the Internation bMarine -Froduct

Company of Wilmington, Caliiornia. He headeda a group of

1ifty workers packing fish and abalone. ILie was dismissed

from this Job In Octeober 1931l, and for'seven years he
roasmed throughout the state of California, picking and
packing iruits in various farms 938 he met Mltsuye
Yego and married ner. In september o1 thnat year tneir
tirst child was born, and Yataro liad to settle qown.

From November 1938 to November 1939 tie family worked
for Mrs. Mary Tallor of Loomis, picking Ifrults ana looking
after thirty acres of farm land. iHe earned $lu0.00 a
month. From November 1939 to March 1942 Yataro went to
work for Norman King on a fruit farm in Loomis, picking
fruits and irrigating them, also for »lu0,00 a montil.

Soon after the outbreak of the wsr, Yataro was arrest-
ed by an lmmigration officer for illegal entry into tiils
country and was posted to put up %2,000 bona. A Caucasian
iriend, Mr. Charles hall, in Loomis allowed him to use his

name to borrow 1,000 from the bank. It was not long aiter

w2 ‘
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this bond had been posted that the evacuatlion took place.

Yataro 1s five feet gix inches tall, weighs 125 pounds,

and has no physical defects. He can read, write, and speak

Japanese and can also sgpeak Spanish. Iils religlon is bud-

uhist.l

The History oif the Family

After the birth of theilr child in 1938, Yataro settled

down. He felt guite contented workin

(=]

at one place, and
for the first time in years he was gulte happy. ror one
year arfter their marriage Mitsuye had to work so that tne
femily could make ends meet financlally. The second and
third child were born. Yataro's income was getting higher
and everything was going guite smoothly at the time of the
outbreak of war. 7The famlly was evacusted to the Arboga
Assembly Center in May 13, 1942, While 1in arooga, Yataro
worked in the maintenance crew ana recelived $5.J0 for his
work. On June 27, 1942 the family was relocatea tc the

Tule Lake Froject. Since he came to Tule Lake, Yataro got
a position as a carpenter for §l2.00 a month. Things went
along quite smootnly until September. Then he began to nave

finaneial difficulties since the WHA had not pald him for

i n k j 3 , :
‘Information taken irom WRA-Z26 ana supplemented by da-
ta from the case Iecord.
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any of his work. Furtiermore, ne received a letter irom
tiie bank from which he had borrowed 1,000 asking for tlie
payment of the ©% interest. Thils Yataro was unable to do.
on October 14, 1v42 he appealed for ald to thne Social Wel=
fere Department. He needed financlal assistance, and ne
lso wislhied to have advice concerning the bona. He had
cussed the latter matter with several of his iriends,
and they had all sgreed that in as much as Nakeanishi was
confined behind barbed wires and coula not escape, 1t was
no longer necessary for him to post $2£,000 bond. Yataro
felt that he was willing to remain in the center 1o0r the

duration of the war and to be deported at that time, 1if

tiie government woula give nim nis 2,000 back. He was

greatly disturbed over the fact that his friend, Mr. Eall,

whose name he had used, woula be held liable ior the pay-
ment of the full amount if there wasn't any deposit in
the bank. BHe felt that this would be very unfailr.

Since Yataro was employable and had been working lor
several months, he was obviously not eligible 1or a Public
Assistance Plan. He was sent to the Legal Ala Lepartment
ior advice concerning his want, ana the Froject Attorney
contacted the Immigration Oftice to see what could be done.

In the meantime his salaries were paid wilth the cloth-
ing allowances, and the Nakanishi family naa enough to meet

their immediate needs.

4, Comments
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1f we were to make a careful check-up o0l tllie younger
eis in the United States, we would undoubtedly find a

e number who had entered the country illegally. Among
factors contributing to illegal entries were thne Immi-

tion Laws which split members of the family permaenently.

Some solvea this difficulty by visiting Japan Ireguently,

whi

le others made deifinite eficrts to smuggle thelr rela-

tive

Cul

his

nis

gve

wWil0

app

resting to note that Yataro naca no parti-

ar desglre to remain in the United States. felt that

future was in Japan and was willing to repatriate with

family. In spite of his pro-Jdapanese feelings, liow-
r, he was very much concernea about his Caucasian iriend
had lent him so much money. Loyalty to his country

arently adid not completely oversnadow loyalty to Iriends.
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THE PANIGUCHI FAMILY

CONFIDENTIAL

This document contains no disgulses other than
named, All dates, places and events are accurate to
the best knowledge of the investigator. No part of
this document may be used for any purpose whatsoever
without further disguises to conceal the identity of
the persons involved and without the consent of the
director of the Evacuation and Resettlement Study.

Sources of Information:

1. Case record of the Tanlguchli family in the
files of the Community Welfare Department
in Tule Lake Project.

Interview with Mr. Taniguchi.
Field notes at JACL meeting.

WRA-26, for Mr. and Mrs. Taniguchi.

Evacuatlion and Resettlement Study
Chicago, Illinois
Shibutani, 8/20/43
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THE TANIGUCHI FAMILY

. Introductlon

The Taniguchi family consists of John Masao Taniguchi, 41; his
wife, Kikue, 35; and four children, James, 12; Naomi, 11; Elsie, 9
and Frances, 7. There are no other relatives in Tule Lake. Prior to
evacuation Mr, Taniguchi operated an ice house in Sacramento and was
the sole supporter of his family. As a veteran of World War I, Nr.
Taniguchi commanded considerable respect in the community. Although
he has a fairly good command of English, his wife is kibel and under-
stands practically no English. . The children address their parents in

a mixture of both languages. The family is Methodist,.

2. Individuals in Family

l, John Masao Taniguchi

John Masao Taniguchi was born on November 27, 1901 in Hilo, T.H,
His father, who had been a coal miner in Japan, was a farmer there.
Very early in his childhood the family migrated to the continental
United States and settled in the northwest. From September, 1907 to

June, 1915 Taniguchi attended Roosevelt grammar school in Spokane,

Washingtoﬁ and then attended Broadway high school in Seattle, Wash-

inton until June, 1916, While in his last year in high school, the

United States declared war and Taniguchi volunteered for the Army,.

He went into training immediately and #&n Nowember, 1917 he was




* Document TL=-63

assigned to the 8th M.G. Battalion on the east coast and &n October,
1918 he was sent overseas to English for six months and then to
Frances &n August, 1918, He saw action in Alsace Lorraine and was
fighting in Germany when the Armistice was signed. On one occasion
he was gassed but returned otherwise unhurt. He was assigned to
patrol duty in Germany and was not released until August, 1919,

In September, 1919 he was discharged honorably from the Army and
decided not to continue hig high school education. He had been an
English major and an honor student and also speclalized in publie
speaking but decided to try his hand at art. He attended the Art
Students! League in New York from September, 1220 to June, 1924 dur-
ing which time he supported himself by working as a commercial artist
for $70 per week and also by painting posters for various show
houses in New York. He could not manage, however, and in 1924 returned
to the Pacifie Coast.

From 1924 to 1927 Taniguchi operated a lettuce farm of 250

acres in Guadalupe, California, In June, 1927 he went to Sacramento

and managed the State Ice Company and earned anywhere from $100 to
$135 per month. He remained there until evacuation . In 1928 he
was married and now has four children.

Taniguchl is 5 ft. & in. tall and weighs 156 pounds. He has
weak lungs because of the gassing in France. He can read, write
and speak both English and Japanese for he had a special tutor in
the Japanese language while in Seattle. He can also speak French.
His special skills are refrigeration and engineering and his hobbies

are reading, listening to classical music and fine arts. For many

years he has been Commander of the Japanese Veterans organization




in Saeramento and was receiving a vetera s pension of $10 per

month. Eils religion

2., Kikue Teniguchi

Jigenda,
She attended
March, 19<1,
Hatanake family migrated to the United
es and the - started farming in the Sacramento ared.
N
From December, 1927 to May, 1928 Kikue went back to Japan for a
brief visit and returned here where she married John Maszso. 3he
attended the Tomita drafting end sewing school in Sacramento for
six months but otherwise spent her time raising children.
¥rs. Taniguchi is 4 ft. 11 inches tall and weighs 145 pounds.
She has no physical defects. She can read, wrlte and speak Japan-

ese but has only & poor speaking kmowledge of Bnglish. ©She can sew

exceeding well. Her hobby is cooking, sewing and Tflower making.

She was an agtive member o the Methodist Church Ladies's Society

o /

in Sacramento.

in Tule Lake

The Taniguchi family evacuated %o Walerga Assembly Center on
May 15, 1942 and relocated 1O Tule Leke on June 19, &942. Soon
after their arrival in the relocation center James worked as &
fireman. He was tne diffd ies since he had littls savings

and the Veterans' pensi ¢ &10 was not surficient do support a
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family of six. Early in October he applied for relief at the Social
Welfare Department stating that he was issued heavy clothing for
himself since he worked but there was not enough money to buye clothes
for his children this winter. For August and September allowances
and salary the WRA owed him more than $70. Although the family was
in need but because of stringent regulations they were not given
public assistance grant.

Toward the middle of October when the recrulting team for the

Nisel Combat Unit arrived, Taniguchl volunteered. On October 15 he

appeared at the Soclal Welfare Department and stated that he had

volunteered for the Army and would leave for San Francisco soon. He
asked the department to look after his family after he was gone. On
October 30 at a JACL meeting Taniguchl, who had not yet left for the
Army expressed a note of pessimism. He sald, "Californla wants to
get rid of us. We move from our home with the understanding that we
would be able to go back. We now know that various states assist
the WRA project and industries. California Japanese will not be
dumped there so our future looks very hard. I think that if the
Army 1s going to a#hd us to the front in combat units we ought to
velunt eer but if the Army 1s going to use us for digging ditches

and other dirty work, I think we should wait for the draft,">

Un November Taniguchi finally left for the Army.4

3. Meeting on October 30, 1942,
4, Article on Taniguchi will be checked further.
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DOCUMENT TIL~-65

THE TSURUI FAMILY

CONFIDENTIAL

This document contains no disguises. All names, dates,
places, and events are accurate to the best knowledge of the
investigator. No part of this document may be used for any
purpose whatsocever without sufficient disguise to conceal the
identity of the persons involved and without the consent of
the director of the Evacuation and Resettlement Study.

Sources of Information:

l. Case record of the Tsurui family in the files
of the Community Welfare Department in the
Tule Lake Project.

The case was handled in part by the wiiter.
He interviewed Mrs. Tsuruili on several occasions.

Brief discussion with Mrs. Yasuko Akamatsu who
later took charge of the case.

WRA-26, Individual Record Form, for Mr. Tsurui.
Unfortunately, this form was not available for
Mrs., Tsurui.

Evacuation and Resettlement Study
The Evacuee Family in Tule Lake
Chicago, Illinois

Shibutani, 7/13/43
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THE TSURUI FAMILY

1., Introduction

The Tsurui family consists of Mr. Seiroku Tsurul (58), his

wife Takae (41), and six children. The four daughters--Fumi (17),
Sumie (15), Mitsue (6), and May (5)--are living with them; while
the two elder boys--Akira and Roy--have left the project and are
working on the outside.

Wr., Tsurui was formerly a foreman of a crew working on the
Great Northern railroads, and the two sons did odd jobs to support
the family when the father became j1l1. B oth the elder Tsuruis were
educated in Japan, and Mr, Tsuruil has a fairly good command of the
English language. lrs. TPsurui, however, can understand only Japanese.
The children are all bilingual and address thelr parents in Japanese
and each other in a mixture of Japanese and English. The family
religion is Christlan--Seventh Day Adventist.

It seems that the family gained whatever status that it had
largely as a member of the Caucasian community and did not mingle
to any great extent among the Japanese. In church the group mixed
with Caucasisns to some extent and Mr. Tsurui's employment was with
members of other raclal groupse.

B oth Mr. and Mrs. Tsurul are in poor health, but all of the
children are well. lir, Tsurui was injured while working and was

retired by the company. Mrs. Tsurul has been ill for some time.




2, The Life of Seiroku Tsurul

Seiroku Tsurul was born on March 3, 1884, in Shinotake shi,

bkayama ken, Japan, where his father was a farmer., He spent his

early childhood in the village and attended the Shinotake shi grammar
school from A pril, 1892, to March, 190L. -He worked around the
village and helped his father until 1904, when at the age of 20 he
migrated to the United States. He did odd jobs in the Pacific
Northwest and then returned to Japan, He was in Japan from October,
1917, to March, 1918, When he réturned to the United States he went
to work for the Indian Shingle Mill Company in fount Vernon, Wash-
ington, where he earned his livelihood cutting shingles. In October,
1919, he returned once more to Japan. °

hen he returned to the U.S. once more in May, 1920, he brought
back his bride and went to work at the Northern Pacific Railroad
in the Auburn section (in Washington). There the family settled.
The Tsuruis had their children there and worked their way into the
communitye Mr. Tsurui gradually worked his way up until he became
assistant foreman, laying rails at $125.00 a month.

Psurui is 5'6" tall and weighs 145 pounds., He 1s diabetic and
has high blood pressure., His vision is also beginning to fail. 1In
spite of these physical handicaps, he took great interest in sports
and managed a Japanese baseball team for seven years in Auburn. His
sons also took active part in sports.

After the attack on Pearl Harber, Tsurui continued to work with
Great Northern in spite of his failing health. Finally in Jammary,
1942, he was given his release by the company and was told that

he would automatically be given his pension as soon as he became 60,




Soon afterward, Tsurui was interned by the F.B.I. agents,

but he was released in time to join his family for evacuation.t

3¢ The History of the Family

The Tsurui family lived in Auburn from the beginning when lir,
Tsurui brought his young bride from Japan. There they raised their
children and took active part in the affairs of the community. Mr.
Tsurul saved whatever he could and deposited the money in the
Sumitomo bank. Like many other Issel, he apparently had intentions
of someday returning to Japan to spend his last days. In October,
1941, he deposited almost everything in the Japanese bank and changed
it into Japanese money. He felt that there was a danger of something
happening, but he didn't think that war would come so soon. 2

A lthough Mrs. Tsurui had been suffering of pleuresy for 10

years,3 the family got along fairly well until the outbreak of the

war. At that time several things happened that caused considerable
hardship, On January 8, 1942, Mr, Tsurui was discharged from the
companye. oince the family was depending upon his income for their
livelihood, this caused considerable hardship. At about the s ame
time, Mr. Tsurui's health failed, and this added to their woes.4

In the same month, the eldest son, Akira, got into an automebile

accident, and since he did not carry insurance, much of the family

l, Taken from WRA=-26 and from interviews with Mrs. Akamatsu.

2. Interview with Mrs. Akamatsu, October 16, 1942,

S5« Interview with Mrs. Akamatsu, October 13, 1942. Statement
by Mrs, Tsurui was later confirmed by the Base Hospital,

4, Certification of Mr, Tsurui's disability was by J.W. Gullikson,
M.D., Chief Surgeon, Northern Facific Beneficial Association Hospital,
Tacoma. Diagnosis: diabetes mellitus; vision 20/400, uncorrected.
Notation in WRA-26 for lp, Tsurui.




savings was spent in paying the damages to the other party. Akira
still owes them $70. and the agreement is that he would pay when he
begins to earn.

Soon afterward, Mr. Tsukmi was arrested by the F.B.I. and held
for questioning. Akira and Roy had to go to work to support the
family. They sold their car and had an income of $15 a month, but
aside from that there was no much for them to live on. DMrs. Tsurui
tried to work, but was advised against doing so by her physicilan.
Finally, on May 23, 1942, the family was evacuated to the Finedale
Assenmbly Center. On July 10, Mr., Tsurul was released by the federal
officials and was allowed to return to his family in Pinedale.
Finally, on July 16, 1942, the family was transferred to the Tule
Lake Projects

Once in the Tule Lake Project, the family irmediately encountered
financial difficulties. They had practically no money left. Whereas
in the Assembly Center where there was nothing to buy they did not

need so rmuch money, in Tule Lake the canteens were we2l stocked and

the family need many items. The two older boys went to work and

tried to earn spending money, but because of the delay in making pay-
ments the family had to live on the $15 a month coming from the sale
of the automobile., Fumi worked in a mess hall during the summer,

but she had to quit when school began in the fall., Mrs. Tsurui was
unable to do any work partly because of her ill-health and partly
because she had to remain at home ta inject insulin serum into her
husband and to care for him. Mr. Tsurul expressed a willingness to
work but was advised against it by the project doctors. Because the

procedure for unemployment compensation had not yet been set up, he




likewise had no income.®

On October 7, 1942, at the suggestion of the block manager,
Mrs., Tsurui applied for relief at the Social Welfare Department.
Because of project regulations, she was told that she should go %o
the Employment office to apply for unemployment compensation, but
the procedure was notready.

In the meantime, the two elder sons went out of the project to
work in Klamath Falls for the Great Northerﬁ railroad. The two boys
apparently did not earn as much as they spent, because they continued
to ask their parents to send them money.

On October 16, 1942, when Mrs. Tsurul was examined at the
hospital.to test her unemployability, the doctors found that her
condition was so bad that they ordered her hospitalized for tuber-
culosis. The social worker called at the Tsuruil home and left forms
to 5e signed, but they were never brought'back to the office. It
was learned at this time that the two boys outside were earning
about $4 a day, but that neither of them were sending home anything,.
Mr. Tsurul was rather resentful of this and stated that they had
no intention of returning again to the family; he did not care.b

Finally, the family was certified for Public Assistance for

the months of QUectober and November.,

4, Comments

The Tsurul family was typical of many whose incomes were res-

5. Interview with Mrs. Tsurul on October 5, 1942,
6 « Iditerview with Mrs. Akamatsu on October 13, 1942,




tricted. Because of the delays in the payment of wages, the setting

up of the public assistance grants, gand the setting up of the pro-

cedures for unemployment compensation, many families sufferediun-
necessarily.

It is difficult for us to make any comments on the basis of such
incomplete information. One point of interest that we might note is
the fact that the sons, though realizing the financial condition, of
the family, did not have sufficient identification with it or did
not feel sufficient responsibility to support them when they were in
need. This is interesting when we' consider the point that many
Nisei feel such an attachment and responsibility toward their parents
that they refuse to relocate on that account. The fact that the family
was not an integral part of the Japanese commnity might account for
this new attitude, but of course, we are not justified in making any

such generalization.
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THE TENMA FAMILY

CONFIDENTIAL

This document contains no disguises. All names, dates, places,
and events are accurate to the best knowledge of the investigator. No
part of this document may be used for any purpose whatsoever without
sufficient disguise to concel@ the identity of the persoms involved
and without the consent of the director of the Evacuation and Reset-
tlement study.

Sources of Informations:

1. Case record on the Tenma family in the files of the Com-
munity Welfare Department in Tule Lake., Permission for
the use of this data was givem by the supervisor, Miss
Naoko Hoshino., The record face sheet is in Appendix I.

Mre. Tenma's case was handled in part by the writer.
During the course of the investigation, the writer had
several opportunities to interview lirs. Tenma.

Brief discussion of the case with Mrs. Yasuko Akamatsu,
case worker, who also helped in the investigation.

WRA=-26, Individual Record Form, for lirs. Tenma. This

' data was made aveilable through the cooperation of Miss
Dorothy Montgomery of the Social Welfare Department and
Miss Hennah Uyeno of the Housing Department.

Evacuation and Resettlement Study
The Evacuee Family in Tule Lake
Tule Lake Project .

Shibuteni, 4/21/43
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THE TENMA FAMILY

L. Intpoduction

The Tenma family in Tule Leke consists of lrs. Masako Tenma, a widow, 47,
her daughter Lily, 17, and two sons--Akira, 10, and John, 9. Mrs. Tenma also
has three other sons--Zhiro, 23, who is in Utash with his wifej Joseph, 19, who
is also in Utah; and Mitsuru, 21, whose whereabouts are unknown. WMr. Tenma
passed away about 7% years 8ago. :

Mrs. Tenma was educated both in Japan end the United States and is bi-
linguel. All her children can speak only English,'since their mother speaks
English quite fluently. Until ihe time of evacuation, she and her children
worked together to scrape togetper a living. Since lir. Tenma's death, the
femily has never been well off. They have been on relief and even with the

financial help from the county they barely made ends meet. Since the fmmily

was receiving relief, their social status was at the bottom of the ladder.l

The Tenmas are Seventh Day Adventists.?

2. Life of Mrs. Tenma

Mfasako Kameda was born on June 6, 1895, in Setada machi, Hiroshima ken,

1. The Japanese (Issei) felt very strongly about receiving relief from
the government. Because of the mutual aid institutions and because of the
assistence given by members of the femily to each other (to protect the family
record), only those who were destitute applied for relief in Japan. Many com~
mitted suicide rather than eat food given to them by outsiders. This feeling
is carried over to America. It is interesting to note the change of attitude
toward relief in Tule Lake.

2. CWD files and interview with Mrs. Yasuko Akamatsu.




Japan, where her father was a rice retailer, ©he attended the Setada gremmar
school from April, 1902, to March, 1910, and then went to the Setada high school
from 1910 to March, 1914. A year after her gradustion, she migrated to America.

She was then only 20 years of age.

In February, 1915, she settled in Washington and attended the Baily-Gazerdt

night school for four semesters. She then married. After the birth of her
first baby in 1919, she left for a brief visit to Japan. £he was there from
Avgust, 1919, to May, 1920.

After her return from Japen, she went to work in her habband's hotel in
Seattle as a general maid and worked there until 1938. Sﬁe had six children
in all and reared them all in Seattle. In 1934, Mr. Tenme suddenly died. She
carried oﬁ his business until 1938, when her oldest son begen to work to sup-
port the femily. From October, 1938, until the time of evacuation, she worked
only part time and earned enough to meke up the difference between Shiro's
earnings and the needs of the family.3

Mrs. Tenma is 5'2" tell and weighs 110 pounds. She has no major physical
defects, but her body is in general weakened condition.? She is soft spoken
and delicate and looks somewhat like -an Indian woman. ©She can read, write, and
speak both English end Japanese. Her spoken English is so fluent that one won-
ders whether she was educated exclusively in the United States.® Her hobbies

are sewing, singing, and crocheting. Her religion is Seventh Day Adventist.®

3. WRA=-26 and CWD files. Testimony of Mrs. Tenma on November 1§, 1942,
fo Mrs. Yasuko Akamatsu. The story here is not quite clear. What is presented
here has been reconstructed from the fragmente irn the Individusl Record Fomms
and in the records of the Social Welfare Department and may not be entirely
accurate.

4, This cleim on her part of October 5, 1942, was confirmed by a note
from the Base Hospital certiéffing that Mrs. Tenma was in no condition towwork.

5. The first impression of thw worker was that Mrs. Tenma was an. Indian
women who had merried a Japenese and had beenintermdd. Nrs. Tenma gives the
impression of being feeble and delicate and yet capable of working if necessary.

6. WRA~26, supplemented by date from other sources.




3. The History of the Family

For four years after the death of Mr. Tenma, the family continued to live
in Seattle, bﬁrely eking out a living from the hbtel. In 1938, the Tenmas moved
to Auburn, Washington, where Shiro found a job as a farm laborer. Shiro worked
hard end gave his earnings to his mother to support the femily. Mrs. Tenme her-
self did piece work picking berries until she became ikl in 1939. The income
from these two workers and a pension (Mother's Pension) from the King County
Welfare Department of $42 a month kept the family going.

The second son, Mitsuru, left Auburn in 1940 for Los Angeles. There he
worked e&s & schoolboy to earn his way through coblege. Mitsuru was in Los
Angeles until Earch, 1942, when he velunterily left the military area for Utah.
His whereabouts are now unknown. Migsuru is now 21,

In September, 1941, the third son, Joseph (now 19) left home to attend
& college in San Mateo, California. Like his elder brother, he too worked as
a schoolboy. Just before the travel restrictions went into effect late in
larch, he returned to join his family in Auburn. Once home, he worked to help
support the family until the time of evacuation.

In April, 1942, Shiro married in Auburn, The family was evacuated to
the Pinedale Assembly Center on May 24, 1942.

In Pinedale, Mrs. Tenma lost the help of her oldest son. Shiro and his
wife decided to go to Utah to work in the sugar beet fields there. Although

she needed his help, Mrs. Tenma felt that remeining in camp would not help her

son and she encouraged him to leave and to meke good. Shiro did make good and

found permanent employment in Utah.
On July 17, 1942, the Tenma family was relocated to Tule Lake. As soon

es the family had settled down snd had completed meking furniture and partitions




end hed made things reasonably comforteble, the third son, Joseph, volunteered
for beet work in Utah. Joseph wanted to earn enough money to complete his edu-
cation. He worked in Tule Lzke for only one month,”?

The Tenmes soon began to feel the pinch of the cost of living in Tule Lake.
Contrary to the popular belief, one cannot live free in Tule Lske. Mrs. Tenma
soon discovered that she did not have enough money to purchase adequate clothing
for the three children who were still in school.® She tried to work but found
that she could not, and the doctors at the Base Hospital recommended that she

refrein from doing anything.

The oldest daughter, Lilly (17) told her mother thet she wished to drop

out of school to work to support the family. However, her mother opposed this
and told her that her education was more importent than a few sscrifices that
had to be made. From that time on, Lilly not only went to high school but took
courses in the Adult Education Department at night so that she might qualify
for a better job when she finished school.?

Mrs. Tenma tried doing a bit of light work whenever she could, but this
did not help because of the delay-On the part of the W.R.A. in paying her meagre
wages. Finally, early in October, she applied for relief at the Social Welfare
Department. At the #ime of her first application, she asked only for shoes
and clothing for her children. She told the worker that she was a widow and
for a long time had been very poor. Consequently she #id not want luxuries,
but only clothes so that her children could go to school properly dregsed.
Unfortunately, at the time of her application, the Social Welfare Department
was still fighting with the Fiscal Division over the forms to be used in appli-

cations for Public Assistance CGrants, end all paymentis had been delayed. Fur-

7. Testimony of Mrs. Tenma on November 16, 1942.

8. It was not until late in 1942 that the W.R.A. decided to give clothing
allowences, and even then, the allowances went only to those who were working
or to those on relief. See W.R.A. Administrative Ins@;uétion No. 27.

9, Testimony of Mrs. Temma on October 5, 1942.




thermere, it was necessary for her to get a medicel statement from the Base
Hospital and this required an additional week. In the meantime, the needs of
her feamily increased day by day.

Finally, on October 15, after much discussion, the Public Assistance Grants
were paid for the first time.l0 Wrs. Tenma received a grant of $2.50. This
obviously was not enough, but it was all that the ddpartment tould give her under
the existing regulations.ll The social worker called at her home to see whether
some additional arrangement could not be made. MMrs. Tenma at that time refused
to ask for help from her two sons. She stated that Shiro's wife was not working
so the couple would need el1 the money they could earn tc mske their own start
in life. ©She stated that she would rather do without than to deprive her chil-
dren who were just starting out in life of what was justly theirs. She also
refused to ask for aid from Joseph beczuse she felt that he would need every
cent that he could earn to continue his college education. She argued that
she would rether see him become a great man and be dead herself than to be
comfortable herself and deprive him of his opportuni‘ties.l2

When a worker called on the family on November 16, she found that the

Tenmas still had no adequete clothing and no income end only about $2 cesh o=r

hend. Mrs. Tenme wished to have enough to get sweaters and shoes for the

children in school end some fruits for herself since her healthy had taken

a turn for the worst. She was worried about the coming cold weather and lack
of warm clothing for her children. She stated that she herself could stay in
her barrack, but the children had to go outside to walk to the other end of the

camp. Since there wes no emergency fund, a regular grant for §9.75 was made .13

10. Grents were paid one week after Mrs. Halle left and Miss Hoshino
became supervisor. The matter was taken directly to Mr. Shirrell. Field notes.

11. Under Administrative regulation no. 35 (Mrs. Halle's interpretation)
an itemized account of every cent that was spent was required. The definition
of "essentials" was also very narrow and limited; i.e., toothpaste, soap, etc.

"12. CWD files, November 16, 1942.

1327 Thid, "




4, Comments

As any worker in the Community Welfare Department can testify, the story

of the Tenma family is {ypical of hundreds of families in Tule Lake. In spite

of the fact that food, shelter, education, and hospitalization are furnished by

the government, it is almost impossible for families (or even bachelors) to live
without some income in Tule Lake. Buch essentials as toothpaste, toothbrushes,
shaving equipment, haircuts, clothing, shoes are not provided by the government.
For large femilies, the small public assistance grants are hardly sufficient o
meet the needs.

The fears of lirs. Tenma were typical of those met by the worker while he
was in the field. Parents were so much worried about the coming cold. Every-
one had heard rumors and had slso been warned by tﬁe administration that the
winters would be exiremely cold. Those with children in school wanted them to
have heavy clothing so that they would be protected and at the same time would
not have to miss classes.

The dffficulties met by Mrs. Tenma in getting her small grant were also
typical. It was not just the governmental “red tape", but the horrible mis-
management by the local officials and the conflicts between the various sections
and administretive divisions that made everything so slow. All sections in one
division were dependent upon each other for effective work, but since one section
head or enother would get into some conflict over policy or over personal matters
things were often held up for months .14

In spite of all these difficulties, Mrs. Tenma carried on and kept her family

14, The Social Welfare Department could not certify. people for grants without
a statement from the hospital regarding employability (which required at least a
week--usually three or four). A check had to be made with the Blacement 0ffice to
see whether the person was eligible for Unemployment Compensation (which Mr. Fagan
ignored for five months in spite of questions from lr. Shirrell and‘Miss H?shino).
After everything had been cleared the list went to the Fiscal Divi81on? which mgde
out the forms to send to the Treasury Department in Portland. The entire procedure

took at least one month until the reorganization in February, 1943.




together. The morale of the group was high in spite of the fact that they were
doing without many of the things that their neighbors had. The in—gqoup feeling
of the family is extremely strong and Mrs. Tenma is very devoted to all her chil-
dren, being willing to meke any sacrifice so that they could get ahead and not
have to suffer as she had. All the children, on the other hand, are always
wiliing to help out in supporting the family. WNrs. Tenma had to encourage her
sons to go out to work. Had she asked them, they probably would have siayed

in the center to support her and the other children.

THe feeling on the part of lirs. Tenma toward bhe education of her children
seems typical of all immigrant paremts. They wish to give their children a
chance that they themselves had never had and are willing to meke enormous sa-
erifices for their children. As one Nisei remarked, "These old Issei may have
come over here to make money and go tack to show it off, but once they have kids
they go crazy. They want to work like hell jusi to give the kids a chance. They
forget all about going back. The hell with Japan, they sa:y."l5

Thies document is but one of several of families needing finencial assis-

tance. It is indeed unfortunate that so many people had to suffer unneéessarily

because of minor differences of ppinion between & few individuals in the adminis-

trative personnel.
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and Mr. Kato was confined to the Napa State Asylum. nce Kato had no done

much work the family soon became destitute. The Placer County welfare department
provided them with $20 per month for grocery orders and Japanese friends paid for
the rent, light and provided other types of food. The family econtinued to be on

o

relie? until the attack on Pearl Harbor whea suddenly they were dropped from the

: - (2

relief roll., At tl ne the social worker of Plagr County referred the case to
the JACL and the Japanese in Newcastle community managed to provide subblstence

~
4

until evacustion. The family evacuated to Ard enter on

and relocated to Tule lLake on June 26, 19ﬂ2.2
ccustomed to the hardehip and now that room and
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census wes tdken and then it became known
desired information regardinz her husband's con-
This request was referred to the Social Welfare Department, however, no
gsent out at this time.
On June 27 Mrs, Kato began to work as a utility room attendant in her block.
Although she had no been gpaid, she had no complaint to m ke. It was not until

that she dlscovered that she could not support four children on $12 & month.

1942 ghe finally applied for re at the Socizl Welfare Department.

who went to the of 7ith he ported that her children were

inadequately clothes and had no underwear and no coate for the winter weather. It
was discovered that the WRA owed Mre. Kat r $60 in clothing allowance and
salary and consequently she was ineligible for public assistance grant.
On Octmber3l, there was a sudden# change in the WRA poliecy zoverning public
"

adeistance grants and to familj with 2 member working. A relief grant of $7.50

wag made

™lee in Social Wedfare Department
b ]
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It was not until late in December when Miss Montzomery succeeded in orzani-
concerning Mr. Kato was
was improved gresatly and it

Lhe project, no immediate action wae talken

condition might became aggrav 1 by conditions in the project.4
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COUNTY OF PLACER

Office of Welfare Department Court House
Auburn, California.

Mr. Elmer L. Shirrell, Project
Socizal Welfare Department,
Tule lLake Froject,

Wewell, California.

Dear Mr. Shirrell:

The ahove named family came to the attention of *he Placer County Welfare De-
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Hervey M. Coverley,
War Relocation Authority,
Tule Lake Project,
Newell, California.
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Very truly yours,
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/s/ I.E. Charlesworth, M.D,

Medical Director and Superintendent
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DOCUMENT TL-69

THE HASHIMOTO FAMILY

CONFIDENTIAL

This document contains no disguises other than names.
A 11 dates, places, and events are accurate to the best know-
ledge of the investigator. No part of this document may be
used for any purpose whatsoever without further disguises to
conceal the identity of the persons involved and without the
congent of the director of the Evacuation and Resettlement
Study.

Sources of Information:

1. Case record of the Hashimoto family in the files
of the Community Welfare Department of the Tule
Lake Project.

Interviews with Mr., Hashimoto.

Interviews with Mr, Shig Yamane, block manager
of 45.

WRA-26, Individual Record Form, for lMr, and Mrs,
Hashimoto.

Evacuation and Resettlement Study
The Evacuee Family in Tule Lake
Chicago, Illinois

Shibutani, 7/16/43




Document TL=-69

THE HASHIMOTO FAMILY

s ainbrodne bion

The Hashimoto family consists of lMr. Chokichl Hashimoto (57)»
his wife Sueno (43), and their eight children--Nagatoshi (17),
Chieko (16), Nobuko (14), Eiko (12), Takeo (10), Kunio (8), Masao
(5), and Teruo (3).

The family is from the Newcastle area where lir. Hashimoto
worked as foreman on a farm, The children and Mrs., Hashimoto helped
in the fields whenever they could. None &n the family are in par-
ticularly bad health, although Mr. Hashimoto seems to showing the
signs of age.

B oth Mr. and lMrs, Hashimoto were born and educated in Japan;
consequently they have little understanding of English. Thelr chil-

dren, however, were all born in the United States and except for

their conversations with their parents, use English almost exclu-

sively., The family is Buddhist.

Hashimoto was one of the many Issel farmers in central Call-
fornia who deluded themselves into thinking that thej were success-
ful enterprisers, where they in reality were operating a farm for
someone else at almost unbelievably low wages. By using members
of his own family for labor and by working himself from morning to
night, he managed to eke out an existence. As a foreman, he commanded
some deference from other members of the Japanese community, although

naturally he did not have the stmtus of the independent operator.




2, The Individuals in the Family

Chokichi Hashimoto

Chokichi Hashimoto was born on December 10, 1885, in Miyajl

mura, Kumesmoto ken, Japan, where his father, a Yoshil, operated a

farm. He attended the Miyaji grammar school from April, 1892 to
Merch, 1900, and then helped his father on the farm until he was 21.
At that time, he decided to migrate to America. He came %o Cali-~
fornia in August, 1906.

During his first few years he wandered all over the state as
a migratory worker earning what he could. Finally, in March, 1910,
he settled down at the Sheridan Ranch in Slough House, California,
where he worked with hops. He finally advanced to the position of
foreman of a plot of 120 acres where he worked with 30 employees.
At this time he earned $100 a month., He visited Japan in January,
1923, and in July of the same year returned with his wife. He
continued to work at Sheridan Ranch until October, 1932, and reared
his family there.

In October, 1932, Hashimoto went to work for Mr, Salatana,
a fruit rancher in Newcastle. Here again he worked himself up to
the position of foreman, He operated 70 acres with 15 employees
for a salary of'$80 a month., This was where he remained until the
evacuation in 1942,

Mr., Hashimoto is 5 feet 2 inches tall and weighs 140 pounds,

He has no serious physical defects, although he is getting old.
31' 2 o (=]

1. People are quite sensitive about this matter. A yoshi is
a son (other than first son) who marries into a family of higher
status and accepts the name and responsibIlIty of the wife's family
A yoshi does not have much status in & commnity.




He can read, write, and spesk, Japanese, but he has very little
understanding of the English language. His religion is Buddhist.

His hobby is playing pool,.?

Sueno Hashimoto

Sueno Fujisaki was born on October 27, 1899, in Kalto mura,
Kumemoto ken, Japan, where her father was a carpenter. ©She attended
the Kaito grammar school from April, 1907 to March, 1916. Following
graduation she helped in her home and prepared for marrlage and at
the age of 24, she married Hashimoto who had returned to Japan in
search for a bride. She migrated to America with her husband in
July, 1923.

They settled in Slough House, Galifornia where she bore several

children and then moved to Newcagstle where she had mofe children.

She spent much of her time at home taking care of the chilldren, but

whenever she had time she went out in the fields and picked frults.
Mrs. Hashimoto is 4 feet 8 inches tall and weighs 90 pounds.

She is fairly healthy and has no serious physical defects. ©She

can read, wrlte, and speak Japanese but has no understanding of

the English language. Her hobbies are reading Japanese magazines

and sewing. Her religious preference 1s Buddhist.®

o, Information taken from WRA-26 for Mr. Hashimoto and from
data collscted during an interview with him on October 26, 1942,

3, Data from WRA-26 for Nrs. Hashimoto.




3 The History of the Family

The Hashimotos always did have some financial difficulties.
For one thing, although Mr. Hashimoto was a foreman, he had con-
siderable difficulty in supporting such a large family on an income
of $80 a month. One year, he had to go to Penryn during frult sea-
son to pick fruits in order to make ends meet. He was never able
to acquire property of any kind--partly because of lack of money
and partly because he never needed any while he was employed by
someone else.

On May 13, 1942, the family was evacuated to the Arboga Assembly

Center, He did not work in Arboga because of a physical ailment

which he claimed to be hay fever.4 With so many children, much

of what little savings he had was soon spent. The family was
relocated to the Tule Lake Froject on June 28,

Tn Tule Lake, Mr, Hashimoto got a job working in a mess hall
but after ten days, he got a new job in the farm. There he worked
until September 26, when he quit to work in his mess hall again be-
cause of a shortage of workers.® The eldest son, Nagatoshi, also
went to work on the farm, but he had to quit on September 17, when
school began.

It was on July 27, that Mr. Hashimoto fipst applied for relief
at the Social Welfare Department. At that time he request clothing
and shoes for his children. He stated that he had not applled for

relief of any kind before and that he wished to postpone government

4, Doctors found nothing wrong with him in Tule Lake.
5, For more details of the struggle that went on in Mess 45,
see Document TL-1l.




aid as long as possible. However, he did not wish to see his c¢hil~-
dren go without adequate clothing.6

After his son went to school, Mr. Hashimoto became desperate.

A1l of his savings were now gone and he was promised $16 a month
for his new job. He had not yet been paid for the work that he

had done in July, August, and September, nor had his son been paid.
Furthermore, he had not received his clothing allowances either--
nor had anyone else in the commnity been padd. On October 1, he
appealed for aild at the Social Welfare Department, but the offlce
wes in the midst of internal conflict and nothing was done about his
application. Finally, on October 26, his block manager became very
irpitated and threatened to complain to the administration unless
something was done about thils now destitute family.

The block manager and a social worker sat down to figure up the
amount of money that Mr. Hashimoto was entitled to in a public assis-
tance grant and discovered to their amazement that he was not eligible
to any because he presumably had an "income"--the salary from the work
he and his son had done which had not yet been pald. The W.R.A., owed
the Hashimoto family:

1. For clothing allowances:

July iuggst Septe

Mr. H and Mrs. H (adults) PLe75 $4.75
4,75 4,75 4,75

3 children (13-17) 200 2450 250
2+ 50 2«50 2250

B0 24950 2,50

5 children (under 13) 1.50 1.50 1.50
1550 LaB0 1.50

X 50 1550 1.50

L .50 1480 1.50

s T R v 1,50

$24,00 $274 .00 $2Z4,00

Total clothing allowance for the three months: 72,00




For galaries:

Mr. H's salary for July, August, and '
September at $16.00 a month « « « . « . . $48.,00

Nagatoshi's salary for the same months
at i;§:|.6.00 2 MONGH o & o @ s e Wrm e » $48000

Total amdunt owed for salaries $96 .00
The total amount that the W,R.A., owed the Hashimoto family was there-
fore $168.00 ($72 plus $96), which might have been sufficient to
meet some of the family needs,

On November 3, the matter was called to the attention of MNr,
Shirrell who was appalled. He called in Mr, Conner and demanded
that some adjustment be made at once. He furthermore stated that
$168 was not enough for a man with so many children and authorized
the Social Welfare Department to give the Hashimotos additional
grants until such time that they had adjusted themselves. It was
with Mr. Shirrell's direct authorization, therefore, that for the
firast time, the Social Welfare Department was able to cut "red tape"
and gave a grant to a man who obviously needed it but to whom the
regulations denied the money. The Hashimotos were given $30 for
the months of October and November,?

Finally, when the salaries and clothing allowances and the

public assistance grants were finally paid, the Hashimotos managed

to purchase some of the things they wanted. At about this time,

however, it was discovered that Mrs., Hashimoto was again pregnant.

6. At this time, the colonists still felt 111 at ease when asking
for relief. Later in the year when the philosophy of "soaking the
keto for anything you can get" became prevalent, many Issei, including
Mr. Hashimoto to some extent, began to demand money.

7. Case record at Social Welfare, November 3, 1942; see also
field notes of this time for interview with Mr. Shirrell,




The child was born in June, 1943,%

4, Comments

This family is interesting not so much because it turned out to
be the crucial test case family that paved the way for a more rea-
sonable public assistance grant policy in Tule Lake Project, but
more because it is a story of an Issek adjusting to unexpected si-
tuations. Hashimoto had never been wealthy, but in some fashion or
another he had been able to care for his family--even 1f he had to
go below his dignity as a foreman and pick fruits. However, 1n the
center, forces beyond his control made it impossible for him to liw
up to the responsibility which he himself felt very strongly. He
had worked hard, but he had not been paid.

He was very hesitant about asking for relief because of the
fear of the stigma that was attached to 1t. He feared for the re-
putation that his children might get. As time went on, however, and
his money continued to run out, he became desperate. Fortunately
for him, the tide of sentiment in the community was also changing--
the people began to feel that the evacuees ought to try to get every
thing possible from the government since they had not come to the
center voluntarily. With this reinforcement and with the indignance
of his block manager behind him, Hashimoto became more and more

gociferous in his demands, although his demands never approached

8., Information from letter from Tule Lake by Grace Hashiguchi,
Social Worker, who took charge of the case after the first worker
1eft the center. According to Mrs., Hashiguchl, the whole Social
Welfare Department was utterly disgusted. July 6, 1943,




those of some men who were obviously ineligible.

Along with other men in the commmunity who were agitating,
Hashimoto gained status in the community by asking for what was
rightfully his., Status in the community was something that he had
never had.

The birth of another child is very difficult to explain,

but an interesting finale. It would seem that Hashimoto elther

had no conception of birth control or else was concerned only with

the immediate needs of his family. He apparently did not think

in terms of the difficulties in the future or else felt that chil-

dren were an asset regardless of circumstances and expected them to

care for him in his age.
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